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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION 

BELOW 

Michael A. Sendejo asks this Court to accept review of a 

Court of Appeals opinion affirming his conviction for murder in 

the second degree. The Court of Appeals issued the opinion on 

August 19, 2023. Mr. Sendejo asked the court to reconsider the 

opinion, but the court denied this request on October 28, 2024. 

Mr. Sendejo has attached the opinion and the order denying the 

motion for reconsideration to this petition. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. When a person invokes his right to remain silent, the 

police must scrupulously honor the invocation. The police do 

not honor the invocation if they continue to ask questions they 

should have known could elicit an incriminating response. An 

officer should have known that his questions could elicit an 

incriminating response if he should have known that the 
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answers to his questions would bear on the potential charges the 

person could face. 

a. Before interrogating Mr. Sendejo, Detective Daniel 

Conine knew Mr. Sendejo participated in mutual combat that 

led to another person's death. Detective Conine also knew he 

needed to document Mr. Sendejo's injuries as part of his 

investigation and to determine whether the State had a case 

against Mr. Sendejo. Yet after Mr. Sendejo unequivocally 

invoked his right to remain silent, Detective Conine continued 

to ask Mr. Sendejo questions relating to his injuries. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed because it believed 

Detective Conine's questions were "straightforward," "non­

deceptive," and aimed at documenting Mr. Sendejo's injuries 

and his health. The problem with this conclusion is that this has 

no bearing on whether Detective Conine should have known his 

questions could elicit an incriminating response. The Court of 

Appeals' misapprehension of the law warrants this Court's 

review. RAP 13.4(b)(l )-(4). 

2 



b. When a person invokes his right to remain silent, the 

police must also refrain from actions that the police should 

know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. 

Detective Conine admitted that he knew merely taking pictures 

of Mr. Sendejo's injuries could cause him to make 

incriminating statements. However, after Mr. Sendejo invoked 

his right to remain silent, Detective Conine photographed Mr. 

Sendejo's injuries. Detective Conine's decision to photograph 

Mr. Sendejo after he invoked his right to remain silent was 

contrary to law. RAP 13.4(b)(l )-(4). 

2. People accused of crimes have the right to present a 

defense. This right includes the right to present evidence that 

rebuts the State's allegations. Mr. Sendejo's theory of defense 

was self-defense. This defense required the State to disprove 

Mr. Sendejo's assertion that he reasonably believed Bradley 

Arabie intended to inflict death or great personal injury upon 

Mr. Sendejo. Consequently, evidence that tended to prove Mr. 

Sendejo reasonably believed Mr. Arabie intended to inflict 
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death or great personal injury was highly relevant to Mr. 

Sendejo's belief 

Mr. Sendejo knew Mr. Arabie consumed 

methamphetamine on the date of their fight. Evidence of Mr. 

Arabie's extremely high level of methamphetamine and 

amphetamine intoxication was relevant to Mr. Sendejo's 

defense. This is because it tended to prove Mr. Sendejo 

reasonably believed Mr. Arabie intended to inflict death or 

great personal injury upon him. However, relying on a case that 

is not on point, the Court of Appeals held the court did not err 

in excluding this evidence. This was in error. RAP 13 .4(b )(1 )-

(4). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Michael Sendejo left his job in Alaska in 2020 due to 

issues related to the COVID-19 pandemic. CP 208. Mr. Sendejo 

intended to go back to his native Texas, but he ended up living 

in Seattle. CP 208. Mr. Sendejo lived in City Hall Park, which 
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was an encampment for people without housing. CP 208; 

1 0/l 2/22RP 802. 

The encampment was dangerous and violent. 1 0/l 2/22RP 

802. Officers constantly responded to reports of rapes, assaults, 

thefts, and robberies. 10/12/22RP 563, 593. Mr. Sendejo kept a 

knife in his sock to protect himself. 1 0/l 2/22RP 582. 

Bradley Arabie moved to City Hall Park. 1 0/l 8/22RP 

428. Mr. Arabie informed people, including Mr. Sendejo, that 

he went to prison for ten years in Louisiana. PT Ex. 2, pg. 31. 

Mr. Arabie openly smoked methamphetamine in the park. PT 

Ex. 2, pg. 21. 

A couple of weeks later, Mr. Arabie was hostile towards 

numerous people at the park, including Mr. Sendejo. That 

afternoon, Mr. Arabie asked Mr. Sendejo to watch his stuff. PT 

Ex. 2, pg. 18. When he refused, Mr. Arabie threatened to punch 

Mr. Sendejo in the mouth; Mr. Sendejo ignored him. PT Ex. 2, 

pgs. 18-19, 33-34. Then, Mr. Arabie got into a fight with other 

people at the park and got his "ass whooped." PT Ex. 2, pgs. 
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21-22. He said he would take on the whole park, and they 

needed to "kill him" to stop him. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 20-21. 

15 minutes after the fight, Mr. Arabie came back to Mr. 

Sendejo, who was outside his tent, and Mr. Arabie demanded 

Mr. Sendejo's knife so Mr. Arabie could use it in yet another 

fight. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 23, 84. Mr. Arabie held a box cutter when 

he demanded the knife. PT Ex. 2, pg. 24. 

When Mr. Sendejo refused, Mr. Arabie punched Mr. 

Sendejo's head. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 23-24. Mr. Sendejo picked Mr. 

Arabie up by the hips, and they both landed on Mr. Sendejo's 

tent. PT Ex. 2, pg. 24. As they scuffled, Mr. Arabie slashed Mr. 

Sendejo's head with the box cutter. PT Ex. 2, pg. 24-25. Mr. 

Arabie tried to slice Mr. Sendejo's jugular. PT Ex. 2, pg. 24. 

Mr. Sendejo believed Mr. Arabie was trying to kill him. PT Ex. 

2, pg. 29. Mr. Sendejo stabbed Mr. Arabie multiple times, 

which caused his death. Ex. 2, pg. 27; 1 0/l 9/22RP 1062-64. 

Police arrested Mr. Sendejo at the encampment and 

advised Mr. Sendejo of his Miranda rights. CP 41. Mr. Sendejo 
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spoke with one officer about some of the background regarding 

the fight. CP 41. Because Mr. Sendejo had many injuries, 

including a laceration wound in his back, the police told Mr. 

Sendejo he should go to the hospital. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 9-10; 

10/12/22RP 657-58. Mr. Sendejo refused. Ex. 2, pg. 9-10. 

The police then transported Mr. Sendejo to a small 

interrogation room. PT Ex. 1. The police tasked Detective 

Conine with taking pictures of Mr. Sendejo's injuries. 7/8/21RP 

206. Detective Conine entered the interrogation room and re­

advised Mr. Sendejo of his Miranda rights. PT Ex. 2, pg. 3. Mr. 

Sendejo invoked his right to remain silent. PT Ex. 2, pg. 3. 

Immediately after Mr. Sendejo invoked, Detective 

Conine told Mr. Sendejo he was going to take pictures of the 

injuries. PT. Ex. 2, pg.3. While Detective Conine took pictures, 

he asked Mr. Sendejo some questions about his injuries; Mr. 

Sendejo responded. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 4-12. After Detective Conine 

stopped taking pictures, he left Mr. Sendejo alone in the room. 
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CP 229. Detective Conine did not tell anyone that Mr. Sendejo 

invoked his right to remain silent. 

Detective Donald Waters then entered the interrogation 

room. PT Ex. 2, pg. 12. Detective Waters re-advised Mr. 

Sendejo of his Miranda rights. PT Ex. 12-13. 

Upon Detective Waters' questioning, Mr. Sendejo 

divulged more details about the fight. In sum, Mr. Sendejo 

detailed (1) the precise chronology of the fight; (2) his general 

approach to fights; (3) his perceived ability to have maybe let 

Mr. Arabie live, but his choice to instead take Mr. Arabie's life; 

( 4) his unsavory opinion of Mr. Arabie; and (5) his lack of 

remorse. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 25-82. Mr. Sendejo also clarified he 

thought Mr. Arabie would continue with his rampage if he only 

"whoop[ ed] his ass," as Mr. Arabie was angry with him and 

repeatedly antagonized him throughout the day. PT Ex. 2, pg. 

42, 82. 
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The State charged Mr. Sendejo with murder in the second 

degree. CP 108-09. Mr. Sendejo asserted the defense of self­

defense. CP 14. 

Before trial, Mr. Sendejo asked the court to exclude the 

statements he made to police because the police elicited his 

statements in violation of Miranda. CP 39-40. The court denied 

the request. CP 227-32. 

Mr. Sendejo also sought to admit a toxicology report that 

revealed Mr. Arabie had an exceedingly high level of 

methamphetamine and amphetamines in his system at the time 

of the fight. CP 222. The court prohibited Mr. Sendejo from 

eliciting this evidence, though the court allowed Mr. Sendejo to 

introduce evidence that he saw Mr. Arabie consume 

methamphetamine and that Mr. Arabie tested positive for 

amphetamines and methamphetamine. 7/8/21RP 301. 

The jury deliberated for days. 1 0/l 9/22RP 833. It also 

asked questions regarding the specifics of justifiable homicide. 
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CP 196-97. The jury ultimately concluded Mr. Sendejo did not 

act in self-defense and found him guilty. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. This Court should accept review because the Court 

of Appeals' opinion fundamentally misapprehends 

when a question constitutes an interrogation under 
Miranda. 

The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United 

States Constitution forbid the State from forcing a person to 

incriminate himself. U.S Const. amends. V, XIV� Miranda v. 

Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 457-58, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 

694 (1966). The United States Supreme Court noted the police 

nevertheless generally employ coercive tactics to extract 

incriminating statements from individuals in custody. Miranda, 

384 U.S. at 448-456. This prompted the court to require the 

police to, among other things, warn individuals in custody that 

they have the right to remain silent. Id. at 444. 

If a person subject to custodial interrogation invokes his 

right to remain silent, the police must end the interrogation. 



Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 101, 96 S. Ct. 321, 46 L. Ed. 

2d 313 (1975). After invocation, a person only waives the right 

if he "initiates further discussion with the police and knowingly 

and intelligently waives [his] right." In the Matter of the 

Personal Restraint of Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 687, 327 P.3d 660 

(2014). 

Once the person invokes, an officer subjects a person in 

custody to continued interrogation when the officer asks 

questions he should have known were reasonably likely to elicit 

an incriminating response. Rhode Islandv. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 

300-01, 100 S. Ct. 1682, 64 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1980); accord State 

v. Sargent, 111 Wn.2d 641, 650-52, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988). 

The police also subject a person in custody to 

interrogation if the police engage in any actions that they 

should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating 

response from the suspect. Innis, 446 U.S. at 301. 

If the State asserts the defendant waived his previously 

invoked right to remain silent, the court considers numerous 
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factors to determine whether the person validly waived this 

right. See State v. Wheeler, 108 Wn.2d 230, 238, 737 P.2d 1005 

(1987). This Court evaluates Miranda issues de novo. Cross, 

180 Wn.2d at 680-81. 

The police tasked Detective Conine with documenting 

Mr. Sendejo's injuries and taking pictures. 7/8/21RP 206. 

Through a police radio, Detective Conine listened to the police 

speak about the incident before he photographed Mr. Sendejo. 

7/8/21RP 181-82, 185. Detective Conine learned Mr. Sendejo 

stabbed someone at the park, which caused the person's death. 

7/8/21RP 182, 185. He learned Mr. Sendejo was a potential 

suspect, presumably in a murder. 7/82/21 RP 184-85. 

Before taking pictures of Mr. Sendejo' s injuries, 

Detective Conine re-advised Mr. Sendejo of his Miranda rights. 

PT Ex. 1 (22: 56-23: 16). Detective Conine did this because he 

knew that photographing injuries could lead to incriminating 

statements. 7/8/21RP 227. He also knew it would be reasonable 

for someone to explain how they received an injury if he asked 
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the subject to show the injury. 7 /8/2 lRP 227. And he 

understood the nature of Mr. Sendejo's crime made it 

"possible" for him to say things related to the fight during the 

photography session. 7/8/21RP 228. 

When Detective Conine re-advised Mr. Sendejo of his 

Miranda rights, he unequivocally invoked his right to remain 

silent. PT Ex. 1 (23 :36-23 :42); 7 /18/2 lRP 222. Instead of 

stopping immediately after he invoked this right, Detective 

Conine told Mr. Sendejo he was going to photograph him. PT 

Ex. 1 (23:45-23:50). Straight away, Detective Conine began 

photographing Mr. Sendejo in the interrogation room. PT Ex. 1 

(24: 10-26: 18). Multiple officers crowded the room. PT Ex. 1 

(28: 17-28:32). Detective Conine repeatedly told Mr. Sendejo he 

was going to take "a lot" more photographs of him. PT Ex. 1 

(25:33-26:26). 

Detective Conine asked Mr. Sendejo to "turn to [his] 

side." PT Ex. 1 (28:44). He asked Mr. Sendejo to lift his arm 
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and pointed out he had a "mark underneath [his] armpit." PT 

Ex. 1 (29: 10-29: 15). 

Detective Conine then asked Mr. Sendejo, "is that 

hurting your shoulder?" PT Ex. 1 (29: 17). Mr. Sendejo 

responded, ''that's where that asshole cut me and stabbed me." 

PT Ex. 1 (29: 18-29:22). 

After Detective Conine claimed he was "trying to help" 

Mr. Sendejo, Detective Conine asked if Mr. Sendejo could 

inform him of any other injuries. Specifically, Detective Conine 

asked: 

Ok. So you got a bruise there? Like if you can tell me 
where-I can obviously see cuts and marks, but if you 

have anything where you feel like I'm missing, like 

that's-" 

PT Ex. 1 (29:20-29:37); PT Ex. 2 pgs. 5-6. 

Mr. Sendejo answered Detective Conine's improper 

question. Mr. Sendejo explained his injuries were likely all on 

his left side because Mr. Arabie had the box cutter in his right 

hand. PT Ex. 1 (29:40-29:54); PT Ex. 2 pg. 6. 
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When Detective Conine commanded Mr. Sendejo to face 

different directions in order to photograph him, this prompted 

Mr. Sendejo to discuss the fight in more detail. PT Ex. 1 

(30:49-31 :38); PT Ex. 2, pgs. 6-8. 

Afterwards, Detective Conine asked, 

Do you feel like you have any injuries like higher up on 
your thighs or genitals or anywhere on your hips or 

anything like that? 

PT Ex. 1 (33:08-33: 15); PT Ex. 2, pg. 8. 

Mr. Sendejo explained that sliding on his tent and on the 

ground caused his leg injuries. PT Ex. 1 (33: 14-33:30). PT Ex. 

2, pg. 8. When Detective Conine collected Mr. Sendejo's 

clothing, Mr. Sendejo made more statements about the fight to 

Detective Conine. PT Ex. 1 (33:35-34: 13); PT Ex. 2, pg. 8. 

Detective Conine asked Mr. Sendejo if "that [injury] is 

on your ankle there?" Ex. 1 (35:00-35:06); PT Ex. 2, pg. 9. Mr. 

Sendejo reiterated that the injuries happened when he was 

sliding and skidding on the floor with Mr. Arabie. PT Ex. 2, pg. 

9. 
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Detective Conine told Mr. Sendejo he was also an 

emergency medical technician (EMT). PT Ex. 1 (35:35-35:42\ 

PT Ex. 2, pg. 10. When Mr. Sendejo told Detective Conine that 

he refused medical aid when the police arrested him, Detective 

Conine asked, "is there any other medical issue or thing that 

you feel that we need to get fire up here for?" PT Ex. 1 (36:05-

36: 12)� PT Ex. 2, pgs. 10-11. 

When Mr. Sendejo said no, Detective Conine asked to 

remove the bandages on Mr. Sendejo's back. PT. Ex. 2 pgs. 10-

11. Detective Conine pointed out a bump on Mr. Sendejo's 

forehead. PT Ex. 1 (40:05-40:09). Mr. Sendejo explained Mr. 

Arabie punched him there. PT Ex. 1 ( 40: 10-40: 19). 

Shortly afterwards, Detective Conine exited the room. At 

no point during the interrogation did Mr. Sendejo state he 

wanted to waive his right to remain silent. 

When Detective Conine exited the room, he interviewed 

a witness and worked on a search warrant. 7/8/21RP 207. 

Detective Conine intended to go back into the interrogation 
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room to talk to talk to Mr. Sendejo; he later intended to have 

Detective Waters conduct a "full interrogation" of Mr. Sendejo. 

7/8/21RP 192-93, 245. Detective Conine did not tell any other 

officer or detective that Mr. Sendejo invoked his right to remain 

silent. 7 /8/21 RP 208. 

Detective Conine left Mr. Sendejo alone in the 

interrogation room for over an hour. Detective Waters then 

entered the interrogation room. PT Ex. 1 (2:26:50); PT Ex. 2, 

pg. 12. 

Detective Waters' practice for interrogations is that if the 

defendant has invoked his right to remain silent, he will "take 

another shot or see if they have changed their mind." 7/8/21RP 

99, 145. But if the defendant invokes his right to an attorney, 

"[ t ]he interview's over." 7 /8/21 RP 101. Detective Waters' does 

not re-read defendants their Miranda rights too many times 

after they invoke the right to remain silent because he does not 

want them to "lawyer up." 7/8/21RP 149-50. 
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When Detective Waters entered the interrogation room, 

he asked Mr. Sendejo how he was feeling. PT. Ex 1(2:26:57). 

When Mr. Sendejo said he was tired, Detective Waters asked, 

"how are your injuries there, are you ok? How's your range of 

motion?" PT Ex. 1 (2:27:00-07). 

Detective Waters then re-advised Mr. Sendejo of his 

Miranda rights. PT Ex. 1 (2:27: 14-2:27:42). Mr. Sendejo said 

he understood his rights. PT Ex. 1 (2:27:42-2:27:44). 

Detective Waters then engaged in a lengthy interrogation 

of Mr. Sendejo. In sum, during the interrogation, Mr. Sendejo 

(1) explained the full chronology of the fight� (2) made 

unsavory comments about Mr. Arabie� and (3) expressed a lack 

of remorse for Mr. Arabie's death. PT Ex. 2, pgs. 25-82. 

Mr. Sendejo asked the court to suppress the statements he 

made to Detective Conine and Detective Waters because neither 

detective scrupulously honored his request to remain silent. CP 

39. Mr. Sendejo argued Detective Corrine's questions to Mr. 

Sendejo regarding his injuries and Detective Corrine's decision 
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to immediately photograph Mr. Sendejo was likely to elicit an 

incriminating response. 7 /8/2 lRP 317-18. And he argued 

Detective Waters continued to disregard Mr. Sendejo's 

invocation by re-Mirandizing him in the same interrogation 

room and conducting his own interrogation. 7/8/21RP 329-30. 

The court refused to suppress the statements, opining 

largely that because Detective Conine did not specifically 

intend to elicit incriminating statements, his questions and 

actions did not amount to an interrogation. CP 227-32. CP 230-

31. Following this logic, the court also ruled the State could 

admit Mr. Sendejo's statements to Detective Waters. CP 231. 

The Court of Appeals embraced the trial's court's faulty 

reasoning when it affirmed this ruling. The Court of Appeals 

opined that the trial court was correct because: "[Detective] 

Conine' s questions were straightforward, non-deceptive 

attempts to photograph [Mr.] Sendejo's injuries and to 

determine the State of [Mr.] Sendejo's physical health." Op. at 

1 1. 
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Several problems exist with this conclusion. First, 

whether the questions were straightforward is immaterial. What 

matters is whether the detectives should have known there 

questions were likely to elicit an incriminating response. And 

most importantly, whether Detective Conine subjectively 

intended to get Mr. Sendejo to waive his right to remain silent 

is not the focus of the analysis. Detective Conine's subjective 

intent is nearly "irrelevant," and "the standard is [instead] an 

objective one, focusing on what the [detective] knows or ought 

to know will be the result of their words or acts." State v. 

Sargent, 111 Wn.2d 641, 651, 762 P .2d 1127 (1988). Thus, the 

Court of Appeals' analysis should have focused on whether 

Detective Conine should have known his questions were 

reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. 

The Court of Appeals also characterized Mr. Sendejo's 

argument as challenging the admission of his statements 

because they "were specifically designed to elicit incriminating 

information about the crime." Op. at 8. However, this was not 
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Mr. Sendejo's argument. Tracking the applicable rule, Mr. 

Sendejo instead argued the court should reverse because 

Detective Conine should have known his questions could elicit 

an incriminating response. Op. Br. at 17-18, 27-28. 

Furthermore, contrary to the Court of Appeals' opinion, 

whether a detective had an innocent motive in asking a 

particular question does not alter the analysis. "A legitimate 

question, asked with good intentions, will still violate a 

defendant's Miranda rights if it is reasonably likely to produce 

an incriminating response." State v. Denney, 152 Wn. App. 665, 

673, 218 P.3d 633 (2009), abrogated on other grounds by In re 

Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 327 P.3d 660 (2014)� accord State v. 

A.M., 194 Wn.2d 33, 39-40, 448 P.3d 35 (2019). 

There were many reasons Detective Conine should have 

known his questions could elicit an incriminating response. 

Before Detective Conine questioned and photographed Mr. 

Sendejo, he learned about what happened at the park. Through a 

police radio, Detective Conine listened to the police speak 

21 



about the incident. He learned Mr. Sendejo stabbed someone at 

the park, which caused the person's death. He knew Mr. 

Sendejo was a potential suspect, presumably in a murder. He 

should have known that any question regarding the injuries, 

even a seemingly innocent one, could lead to an incriminating 

statement. 

Detective Conine knew Mr. Sendejo had injuries the 

State needed to document. Detective Conine must have known 

that the extent of Mr. Sendejo's injuries was relevant as to 

whether the State had a case against him, otherwise there would 

be no reason to photograph him. See RP 181. Detective Conine 

knew that merely photographing injuries could lead to 

incriminating statements, and he understood that asking 

questions about the injuries could also lead a person to make 

incriminating statements. RP 227-28. 

Because Detective Conine knew this was a case where 

mutual combat resulted in someone's death, he should have 

known that questions relating to (1) the absence of presence of 
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injuries� and (2) the pain level Mr. Sendejo experienced could 

elicit an incriminating response. The absence or presence of 

further injuries is also relevant as to whether the person's use of 

force was lawful. Similarly, the absence or presence of Mr. 

Sendejo's bodily pain made it or more or less likely that he 

needed to use of deadly force to thwart Mr. Arabie's attack. 

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals should have 

concluded Detective Conine did not scrupulously honor Mr. 

Sendejo's invocation of his right to remain silent. Mr. Sendejo's 

non-waiver of his right to remain silent is inextricably linked to 

the fact that he did not lawfully waive his right to remain silent 

with Detective Donald Waters. The Court of Appeals plainly 

erred when it affirmed the trial court's ruling allowing the State 

to admit the statements Mr. Sendejo made to both detectives. 

Furthermore, both Detective Corrine's words and 

actions-which constituted an interrogation under Miranda­

coerced Mr. Sendejo into changing his mind. To be clear, 

Detective Corrine's persistent questioning of Mr. Sendejo alone 
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is a flagrant violation of Miranda. However, the procedure 

Detective Conine employed to photograph Mr. Sendejo's 

injuries also violated Miranda because Detective Conine should 

have known that taking pictures of the injuries could elicit an 

incriminating response. 

Detective Conine recognized that merely taking pictures 

of Mr. Sendejo's injuries could cause him to make 

incriminating statements. It therefore follows that Detective 

Conine should have known this practice could lead to 

incriminating statements. Detective Corrine's decision to take 

pictures of Mr. Sendejo's injuries also constituted an 

interrogation under Miranda. 

Detective Corrine's continued interrogation of Mr. 

Sendejo after he invoked his right to remain silent in 

inextricably linked to the inadmissibility of his statements to 

Detective Waters. Because Detective Conine continued to 

interrogate Mr. Sendejo, he never waived his right to remain 

silent with Detective Conine. When Detective Conine stopped 

24 



interrogating Mr. Sendejo, Detective Conine left Mr. Sendejo in 

the same interrogation room to await further interrogation rather 

than send him to the hospital to obtain medical care or to the 

jail for booking. These actions and inactions sent a clear 

message to Mr. Sendejo: the police would never respect his 

invocation, and he could not leave until he talked. 

This Court should accept review. RAP 13. 4(b )( 1 )-( 4 ). 

2. This Court should accept review because the trial 

court deprived Mr. Sendejo of his right to present a 
defense, yet the Court of Appeals affirmed based on 

a case that was not on point. 

In a criminal proceeding, the Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the United States Constitution, and article I, 

section 22 of our state constitution afford the accused the right 

to defend against the State's accusations. U.S. Const. amends. 

VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 

284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); State v. 

Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 14-15, 659 P.2dl 4  (1983). This right 
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includes the "the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the 

State's accusations." Chambers, 410 U.S. at 294. 

Few circumstances justify the exclusion of relevant 

evidence that supports a person's defense. The defendant need 

only establish the evidence he seeks to introduce is minimally 

relevant. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). 

"The threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low." State v. 

Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 624, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). Evidence is 

relevant if it tends to "make the existence of any fact of 

consequence more probable or less probable than it would be 

without the evidence." Id. at 624. 

After the defendant establishes the relevance of the 

evidence, a court may exclude it only if the State establishes the 

evidence is so prejudicial "as to disrupt the fairness of the fact­

finding process." Id. "[U]nfair prejudice prototypically results 

when [the] jury is presented with evidence that is more likely to 

cause an emotional response than a rational decision." State v. 

Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 356, 482 P.3d 913 (2021) (referencing 

26 



Lockwood v. AC&S, Inc., 109 Wn.2d 235, 257, 744 P.2d 605 

(1987)). 

Next, the court must balance the State's interest in 

excluding the evidence against the defendant's need for the 

evidence. Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 622. Only when the 

State's interest outweighs the defendant's need can the court 

withhold the evidence. Id. 

The court deprived Mr. Sendejo of his right to present a 

defense when it did not admit Mr. Arabie's intoxication levels. 

When a defendant properly asserts the defense of self-defense, 

the State bears the burden of disproving this defense beyond a 

reasonable doubt. State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473, 932 

P.2d 1237 (1997). This required the State to prove certain 

things beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Specifically, to disprove self-defense, the State needed to 

prove Mr. Sendejo's (1) belief that Mr. Arabie intended to kill 

him or inflict great bodily injury was unreasonable; and (2) 
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belief of imminent danger of death or great personal injury was 

unreasonable. CP 156. 

Before trial, Mr. Sendejo asked the court to admit into 

evidence Mr. Arabie's toxicology results. CP 22. The 

toxicology results showed that Mr. Arabie had .50 mgs of 

amphetamines and 2.4 mgs of methamphetamine in his system 

on the date of the fight. CP 22. 

Mr. Sendejo linked Mr. Arabie's extraordinarily high 

level of intoxication to Mr. Sendejo's reasonable belief that he 

was in imminent fear of serious injury or death. CP 22-26; 

7 /8/21RP 48-49. He explained that Mr. Arabie's high level of 

intoxication tended to show it was even more reasonable for 

Mr. Sendejo to fear Mr. Arabie would harm him-after all, the 

higher the level of intoxication, the more obvious the symptoms 

of intoxication, which could potentially include aggression. See 

7/8/21RP 51-56. This would make his use of force objectively 

more reasonable. Mr. Sendejo offered testimony from police 

officers and a toxicologist to illustrate this point. 7 /8/2 IRP 56. 

28 



The court denied the request. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed because it believed this evidence was simply improper 

"speculation." Op. at 18-19. The Court of Appeals opined Mr. 

Sendejo's argument was "exact[ly]" analogous to State v. 

Lewis, 141 Wn. App. 367, 166 P.3d 786 (2007). 

Lewis is readily distinguishable. In Lewis, the State 

charged the defendant with murder after he shot and killed a 

person at the person's home. Id. at 373. A witness testified this 

happened quickly, with the decedent emerging into the hall 

with only a towel around his waist. Id. at 378. The decedent had 

a high level of methamphetamine in his system at the time of 

his death, and the court allowed the medical examiner to testify 

about the high level of methamphetamine in his system. Id. at 

386-87, 390. 

Outside the jury's presence, the defendant elicited from 

the examiner the general effects of high levels of 

methamphetamine, which include aggressive and irrational 

behavior. Id. at 386. However, the medical examiner could not 
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answer how much methamphetamine the decedent consumed 

because methamphetamine metabolizes differently depending 

on frequency of use. Id. at 387. 

The defendant asked the court to admit this evidence, 

arguing it was relevant because it supported the theory that the 

decedent charged at him. Id. at 390. Thus, the defendant argued 

this evidence was relevant to his theory that he acted in self­

defense or shot the decedent by accident. Id. However, the 

court excluded it because it believed it was "irrelevant and 

speculative because the medical examiner was unable to opine 

about the methamphetamine's effect on [the decedent] 

specifically[.]" Id. Furthermore, the court opined the evidence 

was immaterial because there was no evidence the drug caused 

the decedent to be aggressive in general or towards the 

defendant. Id. at 391. 

Here, unlike in Lewis, this evidence was material, as Mr. 

Sendejo established that Mr. Arabie was aggressive towards 

multiple people, including himself, before the fight. 
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Consequently, this evidence would strengthen his self-defense 

claim that he reasonably perceived Mr. Arabie would injure or 

kill him. 

Furthermore, Mr. Sendejo sought the introduction of 

something fundamentally different than the defendant in Lewis. 

In Lewis, the defendant wanted to introduce evidence that high 

levels of methamphetamine could make people more aggressive 

or irrational. But Mr. Sendejo elicited such evidence at trial. 

What Mr. Sendejo sought to admit was Mr. Arabie's specific 

level of intoxication, which the court prohibited him from 

eliciting. This was essential to complete the loop on his theory 

of defense. Furthermore, here, unlike in Lewis, the court did not 

even allow Mr. Sendejo to elicit evidence that Mr. Arabie had a 

high level of intoxication. 

The court erred when it relied on this case. RAP 

l 3.4(b )(1 )-( 4). 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated in this petition, Mr. Sendejo 

respectfully requests that this Court accept review. 

DATED this 26th day of November, 2024. 

This petition uses Times New Roman Font, contains 
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F I LED 
8/1 9/2024 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

STATE OF WAS H I NGTO N ,  

Respondent ,  

V .  

MICHAEL A. SENDEJO ,  

Appel lant .  

No. 84759-7- 1 

D IVIS ION ONE  

U N P U BL ISHED OP IN ION 

MANN ,  J .  - M ichael Sendejo appeals h is convict ion for second deg ree murder .  

Sendejo argues that the tria l  cou rt erred by ( 1 ) adm itt ing statements he made to pol ice ,  

(2) v io lati ng h is rig ht to  present a defense by  excl ud ing  a toxicology report ,  and  (3) 

denying h is request for a m it igated sentence .  Sendejo also argues that the Vict im 

Pena lty Assessment (VPA) and DNA co l lect ion fee should be stricken .  We remand to 

stri ke the VPA and DNA co l lection fees .  We otherwise affi rm . 

A 

Fol lowing the loss of h is job due to the COVI D- 1 9 pandemic ,  Sendejo became 

temporari ly unhoused . Sendejo came to Seattle , where he camped in  C ity Hal l  Park. 
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I n  202 1 , many unhoused people set up  tents and occup ied C ity Ha l l  Park .  The 

park became vo lati le and vio lent .  Sendejo began carry ing a concealed 1 0- inch chef's 

kn ife i n  h is sock or boot. Because of the v io lence ,  Seattle Pol ice Department (SPD) 

had a protoco l i n  p lace for respond ing to ca l ls  that i ncl uded send ing at least th ree 

officers and a sergeant to every ca l l ,  no matter the ca l l  type .  

On J une 1 7 , 202 1 , SPD responded to  a ca l l  that a male had  been stabbed i n  C ity 

Ha l l  Park .  When SPD arrived , they observed Sendejo stand ing i n  the corner of the park 

ho ld ing a kn ife . Sendejo d ropped h is kn ife and comp l ied with the officers' i nstructions .  

Officers found a man , later identified as Brad ley Arab ie ,  lyi ng down with h is upper 

body i ns ide a tent , he had vis ib le stab wounds to h is chest, he was unconscious and 

officers cou ld not fi nd a pu lse . Arabie was pronounced dead at the scene .  

Sendejo was p laced i n  handcuffs and advised of h is M i randa 1 rig hts .  Sendejo's 

kn ife was recovered . 

Sendejo asked to speak with Officer Deanne Kozel ,  whom he was fam i l iar  with . 2 

Sendejo exp la i ned to Koze l that Arabie had been mess ing with h im a l l  day,  approached 

h im and asked for h is kn ife .  Sendejo to ld Arabie "no . "  Arabie th reatened to punch 

Sendejo if he d id n 't g ive him h is kn ife and then punched Sendejo i n  h is left eye . 

Fol lowing the punch ,  Sendejo p icked Arabie up by the h i ps and th rew h im to the g round . 

1 Mi randa v. Arizona ,  384 U . S .  436, 86 S .  Ct. 1 602 , 1 6  L. Ed .  2d 694 ( 1 966) .  
2 Officer Kozel  had a body-worn v ideo operati ng at  the time .  The record ing was adm itted as 

exh ib it 6 and a transcript of  the recod ing  was adm itted for i l l ustrative pu rposes as exh ib it 7 .  
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Exh ib it (Ex . )  7 at 5 .  Sendejo adm itted to choki ng and stabb ing Arabie mu lt ip le t imes . 

Ex. 7 at 3 ,  5 ,  1 0 . 3 

Whi le Sendejo repeated ly asserted that he acted i n  se lf-defense ,  he also to ld 

Kozel that he "had the advantage the enti re time I was on top . "  He also excla imed 

mu lt ip le t imes that he was g lad that Arabie was dead . 

Sendejo c la imed that Arabie had a box cutter. Sendejo suffered a large 

lacerat ion on h is shou lder and add it ional  cuts and bru ises . No other weapon was 

recovered from the scene .  The tents in the park, however, were propped up on wooden 

pal lets na i led together. Koze l observed na i ls  protrud ing  from pal lets i n  the tent that was 

knocked over du ring Sendejo and Arabie 's fight .  

Desp ite Sendejo's i nj u ries , Sendejo refused transport to the hospita l .  He was 

treated briefly on the scene by the Seattle F i re Department and then transported to SPD 

headquarters . 

At SPD headquarters , Detective Dan ie l  Con ine gave M i randa warn ings to 

Sendejo for the second t ime.  Sendejo i nvoked h is rig ht to remain  s i lent .  Con ine 

photog raphed Sendejo's cond it ion and i nj u ries . Wh i le be ing photog raphed , Sendejo 

made severa l i ncrim i nati ng statements . 

About two hours later, lead Detective Donald Waters gave Sendejo M i randa 

warn ings for the th i rd t ime.  Sendejo sa id that he understood h is rig hts and proceeded 

to answer questions from Waters for about two hours .  Du ring the i nterview, Sendejo 

3 The autopsy revealed the  fata l wound  was a stab i nto Arabie 's heart. Arab ie had  been stabbed 
at least 1 4  times and had suffered hemorrhage in the neck muscle ,  a fractu re in h is thyroid carti lage ,  and 
petech iae i n  h is  eyes, a l l  cons istent wi th strangu lation .  
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more fu l ly described h is vers ion of the incident and made mu lt ip le incrim inat ing 

statements .  

After speaki ng with Waters , Sendejo was transported to  Harborview before being 

booked i nto the Ki ng County Correct ional  Faci l ity . 4 

B 

Sendejo was charged with mu rder i n  the second deg ree , fe lony murder (count 1 ) , 

and mu rder i n  the second deg ree , i ntentiona l  mu rder (count 2) , with dead ly weapon 

enhancements attached to both counts . Sendejo asserted a general  denia l  defense 

and se lf-defense .  

Sendejo moved i n  l im ine to excl ude statements he made to  Detectives Con ine 

and Waters . Sendejo asserted that the detectives had not scrupu lous ly honored h is 

rig ht to remain s i lent .  

Fol lowing a CrR 3 . 5  hearing , the tria l  cou rt conc luded Con ine's act ions wh i le 

photog raph ing Sendejo were not the funct ional  equ ivalent of interrogation .  The court 

also conc luded that the t ime between the end of the photog raph ing and the advisement 

of M i randa rig hts by Waters was a s ign ificant period of t ime for law enforcement to 

reengage Sendejo ,  and that Sendejo made a knowing , i nte l l igent ,  and vo l untary waiver 

of h is rig ht to remain s i lent .  Accord ing ly ,  the tria l  cou rt concluded that none of 

Sendejo's statements were inadm iss ib le because "a l l  statement(s) were vo l untary ,  

knowing ly, and i nte l l igently g iven after be ing properly and fu l ly advised of h is M i randa 

Rights or the defendant gave spontaneous or non-respons ive statements . "  

4 Sendejo rece ived 1 4  stitches for the lacerat ion on h is shou lder , the lacerat ion was not deep and 
was able to be treated i n  the ER .  He had one other smal l  lacerat ion repa i red with Dermabond ,  a sk in 
g lue .  Sendejo's rema in ing  i nj u ries d id  not requ i re treatment or repair .  
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Sendejo also sought to adm it a toxicology report that determ ined Arabie was 

pos itive for methamphetamine ,  amphetam ine ,  and fl ubromazolam at the t ime of death . 

The tria l  cou rt den ied Sendejo's request to adm it the leve ls of d rugs from the toxicology 

report but d id perm it h im  to i ntrod uce evidence that Arabie was seen us ing d rugs the 

day of the incident and tested pos itive for amphetamines and methamphetamine .  The 

tria l  cou rt found the leve ls were not re levant to any element of the crime charged or of 

Sendejo's reasonable fear .  

The j u ry convicted Sendejo as charged . 5 

At sentencing , the State requested the m idd le of the standard range sentence .  

Sendejo fi led a sentencing memorand um that requested an exceptiona l  m it igated 

sentence of 5 1  months,  below h is standard range of 1 47-247 months , based on h is 

offender score of zero . The tria l  cou rt den ied Sendejo's request for an exceptiona l  

sentence and imposed the low end of the standard range .  

Sendejo appeals .  

I I  

Sendejo contends that the tria l  cou rt erred i n  denying h is mot ion to suppress the 

statements he made to Detectives Con i ne and Waters . Sendejo asserts the detectives 

d id not "scrupu lous ly honor" h is F ifth Amendment rig ht to remain s i lent .  We d isag ree . 

The F ifth Amendment provides,  i n  pert inent part ,  " [n]o person sha l l  be . . .  

compel led i n  any crim ina l  case to be a witness aga inst h imse lf. " U . S .  CONST. amend . V. 

In M i randa v.  Arizona ,  384 U . S .  436 , 478-79 ,  86 S. Ct. 1 602 , 1 6  L .  Ed . 2d 694 ( 1 966) , 

5 Count 1 was vacated because conviction for both cou nts 1 and 2 wou ld v io late doub le jeopardy .  
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the Supreme Court adopted procedu ra l  safeguards to protect the privi lege and held that 

before question ing an i nd ivid ua l  i n  custody, the po l ice must clearly inform the suspect :  

[T]hat he has the rig ht to remain  s i lent ,  that anyth ing he says can be used 
aga inst h im in a court of law, that he has the rig ht to the presence of an 
attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one wi l l  be appoi nted for 
h im prior to any question ing if he so des i res . 

After warn ings have been g iven ,  "the i nd ivid ua l  may knowing ly and i nte l l igently waive 

these rig hts and ag ree to answer questions or make a statement. " M i randa ,  384 U . S .  at 

479 . If a suspect i n  custody i nvokes h is rig ht to remain  s i lent ,  law enforcement must 

cease interrogation .  State v. Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  96 , 1 29 ,  387 P . 3d 1 1 08 (20 1 6) .  

At that poi nt ,  the i nd ivid ua l  "has shown that h e  i ntends to exercise h is F ifth Amendment 

privi lege . "  M i randa ,  384 U . S .  at 473-74 . "Without the rig ht to cut off question ing , the 

sett ing of in-custody i nterrogation operates on the i nd ivid ua l  to overcome free choice i n  

prod uc ing a statement after the privi lege has  been once i nvoked . "  M i randa ,  384 U .S .  at 

474 . 

But M i randa is not a per se proh ib it ion on fu rther i nterrogation . M ich igan v .  

Mosley. 423 U . S .  96 ,  1 02 ,  96 S .  Ct. 32 1 ,  46 L .  Ed . 2d 3 1 3 ( 1 975) . " [T]he adm iss ib i l ity of 

statements obta ined after the person in custody has decided to remain s i lent depends 

under M i randa on whether h is ' rig ht to cut off question i ng '  was 'scrupu lous ly honored . "' 

Mosley. 423 U . S .  at 1 04 (quoti ng M i randa ,  384 U . S .  at 474 , 478-79) . 
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We review a tria l  cou rt's fi nd i ngs of fact fo l lowing a CrR 3 . 5  heari ng for 

substant ia l  evidence and review de novo whether the fi nd i ngs support the conclus ions 

of law. Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 3 1 . 6 

A 

We fi rst add ress Sendejo's assert ion that he was i nterrogated by Con ine after he 

i nvoked h is rig ht to remain  s i lent .  Sendejo contends that the questions asked were 

l i kely to e l icit i ncrim i nati ng responses and , as a resu lt ,  Con i ne d id not scrupu lous ly 

honor Sendejo's rig ht to remain s i lent .  The State argues that Sendejo's statements to 

Con ine were not the prod uct of any i nterrogation .  We ag ree with the State . 

'" I nterrogation '  under M i randa refers not on ly to express question i ng ,  but also any 

words or act ions on the part of the po l ice ( other than those norma l ly attendant to arrest 

and custody) that the po l ice shou ld know are reasonably l i kely to e l icit an incrim inat ing 

response from the suspect . "  Rhode Is land v .  I n n is ,  446 U . S .  29 1 , 30 1 , 1 00 S .  Ct. 1 682 , 

64 L .  Ed . 2d 297 ( 1 980) . "The test for the latter category focuses pr imari ly on the 

suspect's percept ions ,  rather than the officer's i ntent . "  In re Pers .  Restra int of Cross , 

1 80 Wn .2d 664 , 685 , 327 P . 3d 660 (20 1 4) ,  abrogated on other grounds by State v .  

Gregory, 1 92 Wn .2d 1 ,  427 P . 3d 62 1 (20 1 8) .  "Th is focus reflects the fact that the 

M i randa safeguards were designed to vest a suspect i n  custody with an added measure 

of protect ion aga inst coercive po l ice practices , without regard to objective proof of the 

6 Whi le Sendejo also moved to suppress the statements he made to Officers Koze l ,  Dave , and 
O' Keefe at the scene ,  Sendejo has not renewed h is argument on appea l .  The tria l  cou rt found  those 
statements adm issib le because the officers properly advised Sendejo of h is M i randa rights before 
question ing  and Sendejo stated he understood h is  righ ts and d id  not invoke h is  rig ht to remain s i lent .  The 
tria l  cou rt also found Sendejo's statements were freely g iven and spontaneous,  and the officers d id  not 
make any th reats or prom ises. 
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underlyi ng i ntent of the po l ice . "  I n n is ,  446 U . S .  at 301 . On the other hand , i ncrim inati ng 

statements that are not respons ive to an officer's remarks are not prod ucts of 

i nterrogation .  State v. Brad ley. 1 05 Wn .2d 898 , 904 , 7 1 9 P .2d 546 ( 1 986) . "An officer's 

comment is designed to e l icit an i ncrim inati ng response when a suspect's choice of 

rep l ies to that comment are a l l  potentia l ly i ncrim inating . "  Cross , 1 80 Wn .2d at 676 . 

The tria l  cou rt found ,  and the parties do not d ispute , that Sendejo was properly 

advised of h is M i randa rig hts and "unequ ivoca l ly" invoked h is rig ht to remain s i lent 

before meet ing with Con ine .  7 The tria l  cou rt concl uded , however, that Sendejo was not 

i nterrogated by Con ine .  The tria l  cou rt exp la i ned : 

None of the detective's commands were i n  the form of a question 
designed to [e l icit] i ncrim i nating statements from the defendant .  Desp ite 
th is ,  wh i le the detective was documenti ng the defendant's i nj u ries , the 
defendant made a m ixtu re of spontaneous and non-respons ive 
statements .  Detective Con ine asked very few questions of the defendant 
and a l l  the questions posed by the detective were reasonably re lated to 
the documenti ng of the i nj u ries . Det Con i ne's questions/commands d id 
not amount to an i nterrogation .  

Wh i le Sendejo argues that Con i ne's questions perta in ing  to h is i nj u ries were 

specifica l ly designed to e l icit i ncrim i nati ng i nformation about the crime ,  we d isag ree . 8 

Whi le Con ine conceded that photog raph ing a suspect cou ld lead to a suspect making 

statements ,  he testified that he "needed to document [Sendejo's] i nj u ries" and reca l led 

aski ng "questions specifica l ly re lated to [Sendejo's] i nj u ries or wel l be ing . . .  [and] 

specifica l ly aski ng about add it ional  i nj u ries that I cou ldn 't see . "  

7 The tria l  cou rt found the testimony of both officers cred ib le .  
8 Fol lowi ng Sendejo's invocation ,  Con ine a lso asked severa l i nnocuous questions incl ud i ng  

whether Sendejo needed anyth ing  to  eat or d ri nk ,  or to  use the  bath room .  Pretria l  Ex. 2 a t  4 .  Sendejo 
has not chal lenged or d isputed the appropriateness of these questions .  
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For example, Conine appeared to respond to some expression of pain by 

Sendejo when he directed him to raise his arm: 

CON INE :  Whenever you feel like you can ,  if you can just raise your arm, 
just l ike your elbow, you have a mark underneath your armpit. And is that 
hurting your shoulder? Like I think that's probably-

SENDEJO: Yeah,  that's where that asshole cut me and stab[bed] me, I 'm 
pretty sure. 

Pretrial Exhibit (Ex.) 2 at 5. Conine also asked about specific injuries and 

whether there were any he could not see: 

CON INE :  . . .  So you got a bruise there? Like if you can tell me where-I 

can obviously see cuts and marks, but if you have anything where you feel 
l ike I 'm missing, like that's-

SENDEJO: Because l ike I said, I was on this side, and his right hand was 

- so al l  my injuries were coming from this side because he had the 
stupid, whatever, the box cutter, whatever. And when I was close to h im,  
that's when he was cutting me.  

Pretrial Ex. 2 at 5-6. 

CON INE :  Do you feel like you have any injuries l ike higher up on your 
thighs or genitals or anywhere on your hips or anything like that? 

SENDEJO: It's just like I said from in between when I had him on my tent, 
he was doing this thing. And this stuff comes from we were sliding on my 
tent and on the ground to where that other tent was. Also when I 

encountered him over there, yep. 

Pretrial Ex. 2 at 8. 

Sendejo also made spontaneous statements to general directions from Conine: 

CON INE :  All right. And maybe turn to the side. 

SENDEJO: Ow. 

CON INE :  Yeah.  
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SENDEJO: This is just from the struggle in general from us sliding on the 

whatever the-where my house was. Like I said, I l ifted him up like this 
and then slammed him onto my house. And as soon as I got on top of 
h im,  that's when he was doing this stuff because I was close to h im,  that's 

why. But I was trying to grab ahold of his legs to control h im.  Whatever 
happened, it didn't happen until we got (inaudible) encountered h im.  He 
was begging for his life, I could care or less. His life or my life. I imagine 

my life a little bit more than he did. He was begging for his l ife, I could 
care less. Fuck that. 

Pretrial Ex. 2 at 6-7. 

CON INE :  And if you can face me,  so you've got kind of a bump on your 
forehead-

SENDEJO: That was the punch, the initial punch started coming from. 

took a couple of hits. But after that, he was on h is own. 

Pretrial Ex. 2 at 1 2. 

CON INE :  So if you want to just stand up, I 'm just going to kneel down in 
front of you and take some pictures, okay? In fact, if it would be okay, do 
you mind just sitting down and it would be a little more comfortable and 

you can just kind of spread your leg out. There you go. 

SENDEJO: It just happened al l  in  the (inaudible) no, but he was high. He 
was high on meth . And he encountered me at the wrong time. I try to 
give him as much leeway and try to be as humble and try to ignore the 

stupid asshole. He encounter[ed] me at the wrong t ime. He punch[ed] me 
because he said that he wanted to go down the hil l and fight. And he said 
if you don't give me your knife, I 'm going to punch you.  And I 'm going to 

punch you anyways. So that's what he did. So that's why the fight 
started.  He started it, I finished it, I 'm good . 

Pretrial Ex. 2 at 7 .  While this could be construed as a question ,  the question was 

whether Sendejo was will ing to sit down and pose a particular way. 

When collecting Sendejo's cloth ing, Sendejo excla imed "[h]e was looking for it al l  

day. I tr[ied] to avoid him (inaudible) and he encounter[ed] me. And he made a life 

choice, I made a l ife choice. I ch[ose] to take his life because he wanted to take my 

life." Pretrial Ex. 2 at 8. 
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Con i ne's questions were stra ig htforward , non-deceptive attempts to photog raph 

Sendejo's i nj u ries and to  determ ine the state of  Sendejo's phys ical health . Con i ne's 

questions and d i rect ions were not designed to e l icit an i ncrim i nati ng response from 

Sendejo .  Sendejo cou ld have responded i n  many ways , inc lud ing non-verba l ly ,  that 

wou ld not have been potentia l ly i ncrim inating . Cross , 1 80 Wn .2d at 676 . The 

statements d id not reflect a measure of compu ls ion beyond that i nherent i n  custody 

a lone .  The tria l  cou rt was not clearly erroneous in fi nd ing  that al l the questions posed 

by the detective were reasonably re lated to the document ing of the inj u ries and d id not 

amount to an interrogation .  9 

We conclude therefore that the tria l  cou rt d id not err by adm itt ing Sendejo's 

statements to Con ine . 1 0  

B 

Sendejo asserts that h is "non-waiver of h is rig ht to remain s i lent with Detective 

Con ine is i nt imate ly l i nked to the inadm iss ib i l ity of h is statements to Detective Waters . "  

He a l leges that because Con i ne conti n ued to i nterrogate h im ,  he never waived h is rig ht 

to remain  s i lent ,  and that Waters conti nued to ignore h is i nvocation .  The State argues 

9 In a statement of addit ional  authorit ies subm itted after ora l  argument ,  Sendejo refers us to State 
v. Denney, 1 52 Wn . App. 665, 2 1 8  P . 3d 633 (2009) , abrogated on other grounds by Cross, 1 80 Wn .2d 
664 . In  Denney, the defendant was booked on a charge of possession of i l legal d rugs and was asked i n  
a booking questionna i re whether she had  used i l legal d rugs i n  t he  last few days. 1 52 Wn . App .  a t  667-
68. The appel late cou rt held that the questions were reasonably l i kely to produce an incrim inati ng 
response because they i nvited an answer that wou ld  be a d i rect adm ission of  gu i lt .  Den ney, 1 52 Wn . 
App. at 673.  I n  contrast here ,  Con i ne's questions were specific to Sendejo's i nj u ries and document ing 
them and cou ld have been answered i n  a myr iad of non- incrim inatory ways . 

1 0  Sendejo also chal lenges the tria l  cou rt's fi nd ing  that Sendejo imp l icit ly waived h is previous 
invocation of the right  to remain s i lent by d iscuss ing the fight  with Con ine .  Because we conc lude under  
I n n is that th is was not an in terrogation ,  we do not add ress th is argument .  I n n is ,  446 U . S .  at 298 n . 2  
( "S ince we conc lude that the respondent was not ' i n terrogated' for M i randa pu rposes , we do not reach the 
question whether the respondent wa ived h is  right  under  M i randa . " ) .  
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Sendejo's statements to Waters were pu rsuant to a va l id  waiver of M i randa rig hts .  We 

ag ree with the State . 

I n  State v. Wheeler ,  1 08 Wn .2d 230 , 238 ,  737 P .2d 1 005 ( 1 987) , our  Supreme 

Court held that i n  determ in ing the va l id ity of a waiver of a previously asserted rig ht to 

remain  s i lent ,  the court may consider as re levant factors : 

( 1 ) whether the rig ht to cut off question i ng was scrupu lous ly honored ; (2) 
whether the po l ice engaged in fu rther words or act ions amounti ng to 
i nterrogation before obta i n i ng a waiver; (3) whether the po l ice engaged i n  
tact ics tend ing to coerce the suspect to  change h is m i nd ; and  (4) whether 
the subsequent waiver was knowing and vo l untary .  

Once a suspect has i nvoked the rig ht to remain s i lent ,  the po l ice "may not 

resume d iscuss ion with the suspect unt i l  the suspect re i n it iates fu rther commun ication 

with the pol ice ,  or  a s ign ificant period of t ime has passed and officers re issue a fresh set 

of M i randa warn ings and obta in  a va l id  waiver . "  Cross , 1 80 Wn .2d at 674 (citi ng 

M i randa ,  384 U . S .  at  473-74 ; Mosley, 423 U . S .  at  1 03-04) . "Th rough the exercise of  [a 

suspect's] option to term inate question i ng [the suspect] can contro l  the time at which 

question ing occu rs , the subjects d iscussed , and the du ration of the i nterrogation . "  

Mosley. 423 U . S .  at 1 03-04 . 

Readvis ing an " i nd ivid ua l  of [the i r] M i randa rig hts demonstrates that [an] earl ier 

decis ion to remain  s i lent has been recogn ized by the pol ice ,  and also rem inds the 

i nd ivid ua l  that [they] can conti nue to exercise those rig hts . "  State v .  Boggs , 1 6  Wn . 

App .  682 , 687 , 559 P .2d 1 1  ( 1 977) . When the po l ice either reopen a formal  

i nterrogation or sol icit a response from a defendant i n  some other way, such statements 

wi l l  be adm iss ib le on ly if they were preceded by the M i randa warn ings .  Boggs , 1 6  Wn . 

App .  at 687 .  
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I n  Mosley, Mos ley was advised of h is rig hts before h is i n it ia l  i nterrogat ion and 

said he understood . 423 U . S .  at 1 04 .  When Mos ley said he d id not want to d iscuss the 

robberies that precip itated h is arrest, the detective immed iate ly ceased the i nterrogation 

and d id not try to resume question ing or persuade Mos ley to reconsider .  Mosley, 423 

U . S .  at  1 04 .  After more than two hours ,  Mos ley was questioned by a d ifferent officer at 

a d ifferent locat ion and about a d ifferent crime .  Mosley, 423 U . S .  at 1 04 .  Mos ley was 

aga in  g iven M i randa warn ings at the start and "was thus rem inded aga in  that he cou ld 

rema in  s i lent and cou ld consu lt with a lawyer, and was carefu l ly g iven a fu l l  and fa i r  

opportun ity to  exercise these options . "  Mosley, 423  U .S .  a t  1 04-05 .  The  Supreme 

Court concluded that Mosley's "r ight to cut off question ing"  was fu l ly respected . Mosley, 

423 U . S .  at 1 04 .  

Bu t  Mosley "does not prescribe a brig ht l i ne  test" and  " [a] lthough the Court i n  

Mosley states two hours was a 's ig n ificant period of t ime , '  the Cou rt does not suggest a 

du rationa l  l im it . "  Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 32 (quoti ng Mosley, 423 U . S .  at 1 06) . 1 1  

I n  Chambers ,  th is court exp la i ned , " [t] he touchstone of the ana lys is under Mosley 

is whether a review of the c i rcumstances lead ing up  to the statements made to po l ice 

show the rig ht to cut off question ing was fu l ly respected . "  1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 33-34 

( i nternal quotat ions om itted) .  Chambers was arrested and advised of h is M i randa rig hts 

at 1 0 : 5 1  p . m .  and stated that he d id not want to speak to pol ice .  Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . 

App .  at 1 34 .  He was then d riven to SPD headquarters , asked no quest ions du ring the 

d rive , p laced in an i nterrogat ion room , g iven water, and left alone for about two-and-a-

1 1  Whi le in Mosley the latter question ing  perta ined to a separate crime ,  Wash ington and federa l  
cou rts have not treated the nonexcl us ive factors cons idered i n  Mosley as d isposit ive. See Chambers ,  
1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 32-33 (co l lect ing cases) ;  Wheeler, 1 08 Wn .2d at  238-39. 
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ha lf hours .  Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 34 .  At 3 : 07 a . m . ,  after obta in ing  a warrant ,  

officers d rove Chambers to Harborview for a b lood d raw. Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  at 

1 34 .  Du ring the d rive , u nsol icited , Chambers stated " I  don 't want to ta lk  about th is . "  

When they retu rned to the car at 3 : 50 a .m . ,  officers read Chambers h is M i randa rig hts 

aga i n .  Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 34 .  Chambers said he understood the rig hts and 

d id not i nvoke h is rig ht to remain  s i lent .  Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  at 1 34 .  Officers 

asked if they shou ld go back to headquarters and have a ta lk  and Chambers said yes . 

Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  a t  1 35 .  Before start ing the  i nterview, officers read M i randa 

warn ings aga in  and Chambers said he understood and ag reed to ta lk .  Chambers ,  1 97 

Wn . App .  at 1 35 .  Th is cou rt concl uded the und isputed facts supported the conclus ion 

that Chambers' rig ht to cut off question i ng was scrupu lous ly honored by pol ice .  

Chambers ,  1 97 Wn . App .  a t  1 35-36 . 

As for Sendejo's statements to Waters , the tria l  cou rt found "the t ime between 

the end of the photog raph ing of the defendant and the advisement of M i randa Rights by 

Det[ . ]  Waters was a s ign ificant period of t ime for law enforcement to reengage with the 

defendant . " "The defendant d id not re- i nvoke h is rig hts once he was read h is M i randa 

Rights a th i rd t ime and instead made a knowing ly, i nte l l igently, and vo l u ntary waiver and 

freely spoke with Det. Waters . "  

As i n  Chambers ,  the c ircumstances lead ing to Waters' i nterview of Sendejo show 

the po l ice scrupu lous ly honored Sendejo's rig ht to cut off question ing . Wh i le Sendejo 

exp l icit ly invoked h is rig ht to remain  s i lent to Con ine ,  Con i ne scrupu lous ly honored th is 

rig ht and d id not ask Sendejo a s ing le question re lated to the incident or  engage in 

fu rther words or act ions amounti ng to i nterrogation .  I nstead , Sendejo gave statements 
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that were spontaneous and nonrespons ive .  And Con ine essentia l ly ignored the 

i ncrim inatory statements Sendejo repeated ly made. 

Nor  does the v ideo reflect that officers used any tactics that cou ld coerce 

Sendejo i nto chang ing h is m i nd .  Pretria l  Ex. 1 .  The officers offered Sendejo water, 

food , and bath room breaks , and exp la i ned the process they had to go th rough .  At th is 

poi nt ,  Sendejo had been g iven M i randa warn ings twice and noth ing i n  the record 

reflects that he d id not understand h is rig hts .  

When Waters entered the  i nterrogation room , he exp la i ned to Sendejo that s ince 

he was new to ta lk ing to h im ,  he was go ing to go over Sendejo's rig hts aga i n .  Waters 

issued M i randa warn ings to Sendejo for the th i rd t ime.  Pretria l  Ex. 2 at 1 2- 1 3 .  Sendejo 

stated that he understood h is rig hts and he d id not i nvoke h is rig ht to remain s i lent .  

Pretria l  Ex. 2 at 1 3 . About two hours had e lapsed s ince Sendejo i nvoked h is rig ht to 

remain  s i lent .  Sendejo had been left a lone ,  but checked on ,  for about 1 hour  and 40 

m i nutes . Pretria l  Ex. 1 . 1 2  Thus ,  a s ign ificant period of t ime had e lapsed s ince Sendejo 

i nvoked h is rig hts when Waters re-advised Sendejo of h is M i randa rig hts to attempt a 

formal  i nterrogation .  Sendejo cou ld have but d id not re- i nvoke h is rig hts .  

We conclude that t he  ci rcumstances lead ing up to  the  i nterview show the  po l ice 

scrupu lous ly honored Sendejo's rig ht to cut off question ing , and the tria l  cou rt d id not err 

i n  denyi ng the motion to suppress the statements Sendejo made to Waters . 

1 2  Con ine g ives M i randa warn ings and Sendejo invokes at  Pretria l  Ex .  1 ,  at 23 m in . ,  39 sec. 
Con ine and the other officers leave Sendejo a lone and close the door at Pretria l  Ex. 1 ,  at 43 m in . ,  42 sec. 
Sendejo is checked on twice. Pretria l  Ex. 1 ,  at 1 h r. ,  1 8  m in . ,  1 0  sec. ; 1 h r. ,  20 m in . ,  21 sec. Waters 
enters the room and g ives M i randa warn ings at Pretria l  Ex. 1 ,  at 2 h r. ,  27 m in . ,  25 sec. 
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1 1 1  

Sendejo next chal lenges the tria l  cou rt's decis ion to excl ude a toxicology report 

deta i l i ng  Arab ie's leve l of d rug i ntoxication .  Sendejo argues that the excl us ion of the 

evidence vio lated h is rig ht to present a defense by precl ud ing  him from presenti ng 

evidence to bolster h is theory that he acted i n  se lf-defense . We d isag ree . 

Both the U n ited States and Wash ington State Constitutions guarantee a 

defendant's rig ht to compu lsory process and to confront the witnesses aga inst h im . 1 3  

U . S .  CONST. amend . VI ; CONST. art .  I , § 22 . 

Evident iary ru l i ngs a l leged to have vio lated a defendant's constitutiona l  rig ht to 

present a defense are reviewed i n  a two-step process . State v. Jenn ings , 1 99 Wn .2d 

53 ,  58 ,  502 P . 3d 1 255 (2022) (citi ng State v .  Arndt ,  1 94 Wn .2d 784 , 797-98 , 453 P . 3d 

696 (20 1 9)) . F i rst, we review the chal lenged evident iary ru l i ngs under an abuse of 

d iscret ion standard .  Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d at 58-59 ;  Arndt, 1 94 Wn .2d at 797 . A tria l  

cou rt abuses its d iscret ion i f  no reasonable person wou ld take the view it adopted . 

State v. Atsbeha ,  1 42 Wn .2d 904 ,  9 1 4 ,  16  P . 3d 626 (200 1 ) .  

Second , if we fi nd n o  abuse of d iscretion ,  we consider d e  novo whether the ru l i ng  

v io lated the defendant's constitut ional  rig ht to  present a defense. Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d 

at 58-59 ;  Arndt, 1 94 Wn .2d at 798 . The rig ht to present test imony and evidence in 

one's own defense is not without l im itat ion and "the Constitution perm its j udges to 

excl ude evidence that is repetit ive . . .  on ly marg i na l ly re levant or poses an undue risk of 

harassment, p rejud ice ,  [or] confus ion of the issues . "  State v. Orn ,  1 97 Wn .2d 343 ,  352 , 

1 3  Courts and l it igants often refer to these rig hts co l lective ly as the " right  to present a defense , "  
although th is ph rase does not  appear i n  our  state or federa l  constitut ions.  State v. Bedada, 13  Wn . App. 
2d 1 85 ,  1 93 n . 2 ,  463 P . 3d 1 25 (2020) .  
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482 P . 3d 9 1 3 (202 1 )  (quoti ng Ho lmes v. South Caro l i na ,  547 U . S .  3 1 9 ,  326-27 ,  1 26 S .  

Ct. 1 727 ,  1 64 L .  Ed . 2d  503 (2006)) (alterat ions i n  orig ina l ) . Importantly, there i s  "a 

d isti nction between evidence that merely bolsters cred ib i l ity and evidence that is 

necessary to present a defense . "  Jenn ings , 1 99 Wn .2d at 66-67 .  

A 

Sendejo argues that the tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng  that the evidence was 

i rre levant and asserts the evidence wou ld neither confuse nor i nvite specu lat ion from 

the j u ry .  We d isag ree . 

Relevant evidence is "evidence havi ng any tendency to make the existence of 

any fact that is of consequence to the determ inat ion of the act ion more probable or less 

probable than it wou ld be without the evidence . "  ER 40 1 . The "th reshold to adm it 

re levant evidence is very low. Even m i n ima l ly re levant evidence is adm iss ib le . "  State 

v. Darden , 1 45 Wn .2d 6 1 2 , 62 1 , 4 1  P . 3d 1 1 89 (2002) . For evidence to be re levant, 

there must be a log ical nexus between the evidence and the fact to be estab l ished . 

State v. Coch ran ,  1 02 Wn . App .  480 , 486 , 8 P . 3d 3 1 3 (2000) . 

The proponent of the evidence bears the burden of estab l ish ing its re levance and 

mater ia l ity .  State v .  Pacheco ,  1 07 Wn .2d 59 ,  67 ,  726 P .2d 981 ( 1 986) . "Although 

re levant, evidence may be excl uded i f  its probative va lue is substantia l ly outweighed by 

the danger of unfa i r  p rejud ice ,  confus ion of the issues,  or m is lead ing the j u ry . "  ER 403 .  

Here ,  Sendejo sought  to i ntroduce a toxicology report done on Arabie 

postmortem . The State d id not object to test imony about the presence of the d rugs 

found i n  Arabie 's toxicology screen i ng but objected to i ntrod ucing the specific leve l of 

d rugs as i rre levant. 
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In excluding the toxicology report, the trial court explained: 

The Court finds that the level of methamphetamine in Mr. Arabie's blood is 
not relevant to any element of the crime charged or of Mr. Sendejo's 

reasonable fear. First, Mr. Sendejo did not know these levels of 
methamphetamine in the blood at the time the incident occurred.  They 
were learned only after Mr. Arabie's death so the Court finds they are not 

relevant to Mr. Sendejo's reasonable fear. 

Second, without testimony that connects these higher levels that were 
close to the toxic range-and compounding use with some increase in 

aggression on the part of Mr .  Arabie-the levels, the Court finds, wil l on ly 
serve to confuse the jury and invite speculation about how those levels 
should be considered in determining whether a crime occurred. This is 
especially true when nothing that wil l be presented will tie that high level of 

toxicity to aggression .  The Court sees it just as a risk of overdose and 
nothing else wil l  t ie it to that is my understanding. 

I do find that witness testimony that Mr. Arabie was using 

methamphetamine throughout the day prior to the incident and that Mr. 
Arabie did in fact have this drug present in his bloodstream is admissible. 
The Court also finds that witnesses with specialized knowledge can testify 

about the general effects of methamphetamine use on behavior. But the 
levels-the Court simply does not find that they are relevant, and they will 
be, the Court finds, confusing. 

Sendejo asserts that Arabie's level of intoxication "made the symptoms of his 

methamphetamine use . . .  more apparent to Mr. Sendejo" and "the higher the level of 

drugs in Mr. Arabie's system ,  the higher the probability that he appeared violent, erratic, 

and i rrational." The trial court asked defense counsel "what, if any, testimony is going to 

explain for the jury what these levels mean and how that reflects on your theory of it 

affecting . . .  the defendant's fear based on these levels that were learned after the 

fact?" Defense counsel responded that the officers and toxicologist could testify about 

the general effects of drugs and changes in demeanor but could not "opine that Mr. 

Arabie engaged in any of those activities." 
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Th is was the exact type of specu lation excluded i n  State v. Lewis ,  1 4 1  Wn . App .  

367 , 1 66 P . 3d 786 (2007) . I n  Lewis , t he  defendant sought to  i nc lude the test imony of 

an expert witness about the leve ls of methamphetam ine i n  the victim 's body. 1 4 1  Wn . 

App .  at 386.  The court reasoned that the med ical examiner's test imony wou ld not he lp 

the j u ry under ER 702 " [b]ecause of the wide range of effects of various quantit ies of 

methamphetam ine on d iverse i nd ivid ua ls ,  and because [the med ical  examiner] had 

never observed [the vict im] a l ive , with or  without methamphetamine in h is system ,  [the 

med ical examiner] had no idea how the methamphetamine m ight have affected [the 

victim] . "  Lewis ,  1 4 1  Wn . App .  at 389 . The court concluded , "th is expert test imony 

wou ld have been specu lative and i rre levant to the issues the j u ry had to decide . "  Lewis ,  

1 4 1  Wn . App .  a t  389 . 

As i n  Lewis , any test imony that the exact leve ls of d rugs i n  Arabie affected 

Sendejo's fear wou ld be specu lative . Further, if re levant at a l l ,  the evidence was on ly 

marg i na l ly re levant and posed a risk of confus ing the issues for the j u ry to decide .  Orn ,  

1 97 Wn .2d at 352 . 

We conclude that the tria l  cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion i n  excl ud ing the 

evidence as i rre levant and specu lative . 

B 

Next , we examine de novo whether the ru l i ng  v io lated Sendejo's rig ht to present 

a defense .  Sendejo asserts that the tria l  cou rt on ly perm itted h im to present an 

i ncomp lete theory of defense and "on ly a l lowed Mr. Sendejo to e l icit evidence 

concern ing h is personal  observat ions of Mr. Arabie 's consumption of methamphetam ine 

and h is bel ief that people on methamphetam ine had super strength . "  He contends 
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"evidence that corroborated the fact that M r. Arabie was indeed h igh ly i ntoxicated wou ld 

have strengthened Mr. Sendejo's theory of defense by h igh l ig ht ing the reasonableness 

of h is use of force . "  The State argues that even if th is cou rt were to fi nd that the 

excl uded evidence was marg i na l ly re levant, Sendejo was able to argue h is theory of the 

case and h is constitut iona l  rig hts were not v io lated . We ag ree with the State . 

The proper test before th is cou rt is to balance the State's i nterest i n  excl ud ing  the 

evidence aga inst the defendant's need for the i nformat ion sought to be adm itted . Arndt, 

1 94 Wn .2d at 8 1 2 .  And i n  Arndt, the court determ ined that because the defendant was 

able to offer evidence in support of her defense theory without the excluded evidence ,  

t he  defendant was not deprived of her  S ixth Amendment rig ht to  present a defense . 

1 94 Wn .2d at 8 1 4 . So long as the "defendant has an opportun ity to present h is theory 

of the case , the excl us ion of some aspects of the defendant's proffered evidence wi l l  not 

amount to a vio lat ion of the defendant's constitutiona l  rig hts . "  State v. Ritch ie ,  24 Wn . 

App .  2d . 6 1 8 ,  635 ,  520 P . 3d 1 1 05 (2022) . 

S im i lar  to th is case , i n  Jenn i ngs , the defendant ra ised se lf-defense but was 

proh ib ited from i ntrod ucing a toxicology report showing that the vict im had 

methamphetam ine in his system when the defendant shot h im .  1 99 Wn .2d at 56 . The 

defendant's se lf-defense argument was that he be l ieved that the vict im was h igh  on 

methamphetam ine and i n  h is experience such i nd ivid uals are errat ic ,  agg ressive , and 

v io lent .  Jenn ings , 1 99 Wn .2d at 6 1 . The court held that the tria l  court d id not abuse its 

d iscret ion by excl ud ing  the toxicology report under ER 403 .  Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d at 63 .  

The court reasoned that because the defendant d id not know how the 

methamphetam ine was affect ing the vict im and the defendant offered no witness to 
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testify as to the potent ia l  effects of methamphetamine on the victim ,  "the toxicology 

report was specu lative and m ight confuse the j u ry . "  Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d at 62-63 .  

The defendant argued that the "toxicology report was crucia l  because it 

corroborated h is test imony regard i ng self-defense . "  Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d at 66 . Our  

Supreme Court held that s ince the defendant was "sti l l  ab le  to  testify regard i ng h is 

subjective fear and bel ief that [the vict im] was h ig h , "  the toxicology report "merely 

bolster[ed] cred ib i l ity , "  as opposed to be ing "necessary to present a defense . "  

Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d at 66-67 . Thus ,  excl us ion of the toxicology report d id not v io late 

the defendant's constitutiona l  rig ht to present a defense .  Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d at 67 .  

Wh i le Sendejo attempts to d isti ngu ish Jenn ings based on d iss im i lar  facts , 

Jenn i ngs d iscuss ion about the second prong of the test is re levant to our  ana lys is .  

As i n  Jenn i ngs , the excl us ion of the toxicology report d id not v io late Sendejo's 

constitutiona l  rig ht to present a defense because Sendejo was able to otherwise offer 

evidence to support h is theory that he acted in  se lf-defense .  The tria l  cou rt exp la i ned : 

I do fi nd that witness test imony that M r. Arabie was us ing 
methamphetam ine th roughout the day prior to the incident and that M r. 
Arabie d id i n  fact have th is d rug present i n  h is b loodstream is adm iss ib le .  
The Court a lso fi nds that witnesses with special ized knowledge can testify 
about the genera l  effects of methamphetamine use on behavior .  But the 
leve ls-the Court s imply does not fi nd that they are re levant, and they wi l l  
be ,  the Court fi nds ,  confus ing . 

And the witnesses were able to testify accord ing ly .  

For instance ,  the med ical examiner testified that Arabie tested pos it ive for 

fl ubromazolam , a d rug i ntended to ca lm someone down , amphetamine and 

methamphetamine ,  both of which are stimu lants .  The med ical examiner  exp la i ned that 

because these d rugs have oppos ite effects , stimu lants versus "downers , "  " if somebody 
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is overly stimu lated , say from methamphetamine ,  and they want to come down , I 

imag i ne they wou ld take the fl ubromazolam to decrease the leve l of anxiety or hyper­

respons ive that they fee l . " 1 4  

Officers testified that ind ivid uals h i g h  on methamphetamine can appear 

agg ressive , errat ic ,  and i rrationa l . A forens ic scientist testified that methamphetam ine 

causes an "up phase" where it acts as a stimu lant and the person is excited and a 

"down stage" where the person is extremely fatig ued . The scientist exp la i ned that when 

someone uses mu lt ip le t imes a day, the effects wi l l  last much longer and they can 

experience "very i ntense exh i laration , excitation ,  euphoria" and " i ncreased phys ical and 

menta l power [wh ich] can resu lt i n  someone fee l i ng  l i ke they can't  lose . "  " [T] h is also 

comes with rap id fl ig ht of ideas , poor j udgment and poor impu lse contro l . "  

The scientist testified that "b i nge use" leads to more negative s ide effects 

inc lud ing "aggress ion , parano ia ,  de lus ions ,  ha l luc inat ions . . .  [ i ] rrationa l  behavior  and 

v io lence . "  Th is witness also exp la i ned that a corre lat ion exists between 

methamphetam ine and v io lence when looki ng at vio lent deaths and the d rugs that are 

i nvo lved . 

And , wh i le not conced ing h is argument ,  Sendejo's rep ly brief acknowledges that 

he was able to offer the preced ing test imony. Thus ,  Sendejo was able to present 

evidence that Arabie was on d rugs at the time of the incident and test imony on the 

effects of those d rugs .  The on ly p iece he was prevented from offer ing were the exact 

leve ls of the d rugs i n  Arabie 's system .  

1 4  The forensic scientist with the Wash ington State Patro l Toxicology Lab testified s im i lar ly, 
expla i n i ng  that Arab ie was posit ive for amphetamine ,  fl ubromazolam , and methamphetamine ,  and that 
the d rugs are stimu lants and depressants .  

-22-



No .  84759-7- 1/23 

The tria l  cou rt excluded either i rre levant or  m i n ima l ly re levant evidence that 

wou ld have merely added to other s im i lar  evidence .  The evidence was on ly m i n ima l ly 

re levant because the excluded evidence was cumu lative of other evidence adm itted at 

tria l  and , as such , Sendejo's ab i l ity to present h is theory of the case was un impa i red by 

its excl us ion . See Ritch ie ,  24 Wn . App .  2d at 635 .  

We conclude that the tria l  cou rt properly excl uded the toxicology report and that 

do ing so d id not v io late Sendejo's rig ht to present a defense . 

IV 

Sendejo argues that the tria l  cou rt m isapprehended the law when it rejected h is 

request for a m it igated sentence .  We d isag ree . 

Although no defendant is entit led to an exceptiona l  downward sentence ,  every 

defendant is entit led to ask the sentencing court to consider such a sentence and to 

have it actua l ly considered . State v. Grayson , 1 54 Wn .2d 333 ,  342 , 1 1 1  P . 3d 1 1 83 

(2005) . I n  genera l ,  a party cannot appeal a sentence with i n  the standard range .  State 

v. Brown , 1 45 Wn . App .  62 , 77 ,  1 84 P . 3d 1 284 (2008) ; RCW 9 . 94A.585( 1 ) . When the 

tria l  cou rt imposes a standard range sentence over a party's request for an exceptiona l  

sentence ,  review is on ly perm iss ib le i n  '"c i rcumstances where the court has refused to 

exercise d iscret ion at a l l  or has re l ied on an imperm iss ib le basis for refus ing to impose 

an exceptiona l  sentence below the standard range . "' State v .  McFarland , 1 89 Wn .2d 

47 ,  56 , 399 P . 3d 1 1 06 (20 1 7) (quoti ng State v. McG i l l ,  1 1 2 Wn . App .  95 ,  1 00 ,  47 P . 3d 

1 73 (2002)) . If reviewab le ,  th is cou rt wi l l  on ly fi nd that the tria l  cou rt erred if it '" refuses 

categorica l ly to impose an exceptiona l  sentence below the standard range under any 

c i rcumstances' or  when it operates under the 'm istaken bel ief that it d id not have the 
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d iscret ion to impose a m it igated exceptiona l  sentence for which a defendant may have 

been e l ig ib le . "' McFarland , 1 89 Wn .2d at 56 (quoti ng State v. Garcia-Mart inez ,  88 Wn . 

App .  322 , 330 , 944 P .2d 1 1 04 ( 1 997) ; I n  re Pers .  Restra int of Mu lho l land , 1 6 1 Wn .2d 

322 , 333 , 1 66 P . 3d 677 (2007)) . " [A] tria l  court that has considered the facts and has 

concl uded that there is no bas is for an exceptiona l  sentence has exercised its 

d iscretion ,  and the defendant may not appeal that ru l i ng . "  Garcia-Mart inez ,  88 Wn . 

App .  at 330 .  

Here ,  Sendejo asserted that he was entit led to a m it igated sentence below the 

standard range based on RCW 9 . 94A.535( 1 ) (a) and RCW 9 . 94A. 535( 1 ) (c) . RCW 

9 . 94A. 535(1  ) (a) a l lows a tria l  cou rt to consider a m it igated sentence when " [t]o a 

s ign ificant deg ree , the vict im was an i n it iator, wi l l i ng part ic ipant ,  agg ressor, or  provoker 

of the incident . " RCW 9 . 94A. 535(1  ) (c) a l lows for a m it igated sentence when "the 

defendant comm itted the crime under du ress , coercion ,  th reat or  compu ls ion insufficient 

to constitute a complete defense but which s ign ificantly affected h is or  her conduct . "  

As the tria l  cou rt imposed a standard range sentence ,  there need on ly be 

evidence i n  the record estab l ish ing that i t  exercised any d iscret ion at  a l l .  Garcia­

Mart inez ,  88 Wn . App .  at  330 . In  announcing its sentence ,  the tria l  cou rt exp la i ned : 

Al l  rig ht .  So for the record , the Cou rt has considered defense motion for 
an exceptiona l  down as wel l  as the defense pre-sentence report .  The 
Court has also reviewed the State's sentencing memorand um as wel l  as 
the State's sentencing report .  The Cou rt ,  I was the tria l  j udge in th is tria l , 
so I heard the evidence that was put forward to the j u ry and was here 
when the j u ry rendered its verd ict .  With regard-the Court also is 
cons idered the speakers today, i nc lud ing Mr. Arabie 's fam i ly as wel l  as 
Mr. Sendejo .  

When the Cou rt considers an exceptiona l  down , i n  th is case , based on the 
basis on which the exceptiona l  down is being asked for, the Cou rt's be ing 
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asked to cons ider m it igati ng factors . And there are a number of m it igati ng 
factors i n  th is case , the character of where th is occu rred , when it occu rred , 
d u ring COVI D ,  the fact it is true that it was stipu lated that M r. Arabie was 
the fi rst agg ressor in th is case . And it's also clear to the Court that M r. 
Sendejo bel ieved that he was act ing i n  se lf-defense .  So the Court 
cons iders these factors .  

However, I do not fi nd that an exceptiona l  sentence downward i s  
appropriate i n  t h i s  case even consider ing those factors . The  j u ry found 
that th is  was an i ntentiona l  act .  The j u ry found that th is was not i n  self­
defense . The evidence showed that M r. Arabie was no longer a th reat at 
the t ime that M r. Sendejo stabbed h im .  And in  the Court's m ind ,  that is a 
th reat to the pub l ic  at large .  

But I a lso do not fi nd that the m idpo int of  the standard range sentence is  
appropriate either , and that is because the Cou rt does cons ider the 
m it igati ng factors in this case and the lack of crim ina l  h istory of Mr. 
Sendejo .  So the Court considers those m it igati ng factors and fi nds that 
the low end of the standard range is appropriate with 24 months of a 
dead ly weapons enhancement. So that means the tota l length of 
confi nement is 1 47 months .  

Sendejo asserts that the tria l  cou rt's basis for deny ing the m it igated sentence 

was based on a clear m isapprehension of the law. Sendejo's argument is based on the 

tria l  cou rt's reference to the j u ry's determ ination .  But before that reference ,  the tria l  

cou rt exp la i ned that it u nderstood it was being asked to enter a m it igated sentence ,  

cons idered the factors and  evidence that wou ld perm it a m it igated sentence ,  and 

exp l icit ly found it not appropriate . I t  is c lear that the tria l  cou rt considered the factors of 

RCW 9 . 94A.535( 1 ) (a) and (c) that Sendejo presented and determ ined that was not 

sufficient to j ustify a m it igated sentence .  But the tria l  cou rt d id fi nd the low end of the 

standard range to be appropriate . This is sufficient to estab l ish that the tria l  cou rt 

exercised d iscretion .  Garcia-Mart inez ,  88 Wn . App .  at 330 . 
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We conclude that the tria l  cou rt d id not m istaken ly bel ieve it lacked d iscret ion to 

deviate from the standard range . 1 5  

V 

Lastly, Sendejo argues that the $500 VPA and $ 1 00 DNA co l lect ion fee shou ld 

be stricken from h is j udgment and sentence .  

I n  2023 ,  the leg is latu re amended RCW 7 .68 .035 to proh ib it cou rts from impos ing 

the VPA on ind igent defendants as defi ned i n  RCW 1 0 . 0 1  . 1 60(3) . LAws OF 2023,  ch . 

449 ,  § 1 .  I n  add ition , the leg is latu re e l im i nated the DNA fee enti rely . LAWS OF 2023 ,  ch . 

449 ,  § 4 .  Our  cou rts have held that recent amendments to statutes govern ing lega l  

fi nancia l  ob l igations app ly retroactive ly to matters pend ing on d i rect appea l .  State v .  

E l l i s ,  27 Wn . App .  2d 1 ,  1 6 , 530 P . 3d 1 048 (2023) . 

The State does not d ispute that Sendejo is ind igent and concedes that th is 

matter shou ld be remanded to stri ke the VPA and DNA co l lect ion fee from Sendejo's 

j udgment and sentence .  We accept the State's concess ion and remand . 

We remand to stri ke the VPA and DNA co l lection fee from Sendejo's j udgment 

and sentence .  We otherwise affi rm . 

1 5  I n  a statement of addit ional  authorit ies subm itted after ora l  argument ,  Sendejo refers us to a 
recent u n pub l ished op in ion ,  State v. Ki ngma,  No .  84487-3- 1 ,  s l i p  op .  at 29-3 1 (Wash .  Ct. App. J u ne 1 0 , 
2024) ,  https ://www.courts .wa .gov/op in ions/pdf/844873. pdf, where we reversed because the tria l  cou rt 
den ied a req uest for a m itigated sentence based on the tria l  cou rt's m istaken bel ief it d id  not have the 
d iscret ion due to the j u ry's verd ict. Th is nonb ind ing  case is cited pursuant to GR 1 4 . 1  (a) only because it 
is re l ied on by Sendejo .  The tria l  cou rt i n  Ki ngma expl i cit ly stated , " [T]he j u ry has rejected you r  cla im of 
defense of others .  The j u ry has rejected you r  cla im of self-defense. The j u ry has convicted you of th ree 
of the fou r  counts . . . .  [T]hat is the i r  verd ict, and I must sentence you accord i ng ly to that verd ict. "  
Ki ngma, s l ip op .  at 30-3 1 (most alterat ions i n  orig ina l ) .  Here ,  the tria l  cou rt d id not m istaken ly bel ieve it 
lacked d iscret ion due to the j u ry's verd ict, the tria l  cou rt noted it had d iscret ion but based on the factors it 
considered chose not to exercise its d iscret ion to g rant a m it igated sentence. 
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WE CONCUR: 
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